Poloxamine-based nanomaterials for drug delivery

Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo¹, Ana Rey-Rico¹, Alejandro Sosnik², Pablo Taboada³, Angel Concheiro¹

¹Dept. Farmacia y Tecnologia Farmaceutica, Facultad de Farmacia, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 15782-Santiago de Compostela, Spain, ² Dept. of Pharmaceutical Technology, Faculty of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, University of Buenos Aires and National Science Research Council (CONICET), 956 Junín St., 11113-Buenos Aires, Argentina, ³ Dept. Fisica de la Materia Condensada, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 15782-Santiago de Compostela, Spain

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Poloxamine micelles
 - 3.1. Self-assembly process
 - 3.2. Drug solubilization and stabilization
 - 3.3. In situ gelling systems
- 4. Polymeric nanoparticles coated with poloxamines
- 5. Summary and perspectives
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Poloxamines (Tetronic[®]) X-shaped are amphiphilic block copolymers formed by four arms of poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide) (PEO-PPO) blocks bonded to a central ethylenediamine moiety. Such a structure confers multi-responsive behaviour, namely temperature and pH-sensitiveness. At relatively low concentrations but above the critical micellar concentration (CMC), poloxamines generate polymeric micelles. Due to the presence of a hydrophobic core, these nanocarriers are useful in the solubilization and stabilization of poorly water-soluble drugs. Moreover, chemical modification of the micellar core is feasible. These remarkable and unique features, compared to the well-known linear poloxamers, have motivated an increasing interest in the study and application of the branched derivatives in different emerging disciplines. The present review concisely overview the most important developments comprising the application of poloxamines in drug delivery, mainly as micellar carriers capable of enhancing drug solubility and stability, and also as surface modifiers in the technology of stealth polymeric nanoparticles. Their potential for the administration of drugs by different routes and the improvement of the drug bioavailability and therapeutic effect are discussed.

2. INTRODUCTION

Amphiphilic copolymers are particularly appealing materials owing to their capability of simultaneously displaying the performance of hydrophilic and hydrophobic polymers. The hydrophilic blocks are responsible of the water solubility of the individualized copolymer molecules and of creating an adequate interface with the aqueous environment when the hydrophobic blocks self-associate or adsorb onto hydrophobic surfaces. Stable colloidal systems based on amphiphilic copolymers can display a broad range of architectures: polymeric polymersomes, micelles, stealth nanoparticles. polyrotaxane supramolecular structures and selfmicroemulsifying systems are being all them widely investigated in the design of drug delivery systems (1,2).

Polymeric micelles are the most genuine nanosized carriers based on amphiphilic copolymers that can be custom-designed to fit the physicochemical characteristics of the drug, the physiological constrictions of the administration route and the therapeutic demands of the pathological process (3). It is important to note that most approved drugs as well as the new chemical entities being tested as drug candidates display a low aqueous solubility that notably limits their bioavality (4).



Figure 1. Structure of a sequential (a), a reverse-sequential (b) and a methylated sequential (c) poloxamine.

Amphiphilic copolymers that spontaneously aggregate in water lead to supramolecular structures with a hydrophobic core suitable to host poorly-soluble drugs, surrounded by a hydrophilic shell that contributes to physically stabilize the amphiphilic aggregate in the aqueous environment (5-7). Compared to the micelles formed by common low molecular weight surfactants, polymeric micelles have lower critical micellar concentration (CMC), greater thermodynamic and kinetic stability to withstand dilution, and enhanced drug solubilizing and stabilizing capability (8,9). Blood circulation time and control of drug release rate and site can be tuned through an appropriate choice of the copolymer architecture in order to fulfil therapeutic demands (10-13). Passive targeting of drug-loaded micelles to pathological sites with affected and leaky vasculature (tumours, inflammations, and infarcted areas) spontaneously occurs via the enhanced permeability and retention effect (14,15). Active targeting can be achieved anchoring specific ligand molecules, such as antibodies, to the shell in order to direct the micelle to specific cells (e.g., tumour cells) (16,17). Additionally, micelles made of stimuli-responsive amphiphilic block copolymers can specifically release the content in precise sites at rates finely controlled by an external activator (e.g., ultrasounds) or by self-regulation when the microenvironmental conditions change (18-23). Such a gathering of features confer the polymeric micelles the ability to perform as drug carriers capable of modifying drug pharmacokinetics and of increasing the efficacy and the safety of the treatments (24).

Among the diverse chemical structures that the amphiphilic copolymers can exhibit, the X-shaped poloxamines (Tetronic[®]) are receiving increasing attention.

Poloxamines present a X-shaped structure made of an ethylenediamine central group bonded to four chains of poly(propylene oxide)-poly(ethylene oxide) (PPO-PEO) blocks. Regular poloxamines are synthesized by the sequential reaction of the acceptor ethylenediamine molecule first with propylene oxide (PO) and then with ethylene oxide (EO) precursors, resulting in a four-arm PEO-terminated molecular structure (Figure 1a). In the case of reverse-sequential poloxamines, the acceptor is primarily reacted with EO and afterwards with PO, leading to tetrafunctional block copolymers displaying PPO terminal segments (Figure 1b) (25). In addition to the features displayed by their well-known linear counterparts poloxamer or Pluronic® (PEO-PPO-PEO triblock copolymers) which are common components of pharmaceutical micellar systems owing to their proved biocompatibility and temperature-sensitiveness (10,26,27), the unique and more versatile structure of poloxamines provides them with multi-stimuli responsiveness. In this context, the two tertiary amine central groups play an essential role conferring thermodynamical stability and pH sensitivity and enabling further chemical modifications (e.g. methylation of the amine group; Figure 1c) in order to attain additional performances (28).

Poloxamines are commercially available in a wide range of EO/PO ratios and molecular weights under the tradename Tetronic[®] (Table 1; therein after each poloxamine will be noted as T followed by the corresponding identification number). These two features determine their capability to self-assemble and to undergo sol-to-gel transition in physiological environment, and play a decisive role in their performance at interfaces such as adsorption onto nanoparticulated drug carriers.

Tetronic	Mw (Da)	EO units per block (a)	PO units per block (b)	HLB	Solubility in water at 25°C	Cloud point of 1 % (°C)	рКа
					(w/w %)		
304	1650	3.7	4.3	12-18	> 10	75	4.3; 8.1
701	3600	2.1	14.0	1-7	Insoluble	18	4.0;7.9
901	4700	2.7	18.2	1-7	Insoluble	20	5.1; 7.6
904	6700	15	17	12-18	> 10	74	4.0; 7.8
908	25000	114	21	> 24	>10	> 100	5.2; 7.9
1107	15000	60	20	18-23	>10	> 100	5.6; 7.9
1301	6800	4	26	1-7	Insoluble	16	4.1; 6.2
1304	10500	21.4	27.1	12-18	> 10		
1307	18000	72	23	> 24	>10	> 100	4.6; 7.8
90R4	6900	16	18	1-7	>10	43	
150R1	8000	5	30	1-7	Insoluble	20	4.8; 7.5

Table 1. Currently available poloxamine varieties commercialized by BASF under the trade name Tetronic®

The varieties T707 (12500 Da, 70% EO) and T1508 (27000 Da, 80% EO) are discontinued. Data taken from BASF web page and from (44) and (49)



Figure 2. SciFinder results (up to July 2009) of the search on "poloxamine and micelle" and on "poloxamine and nanoparticle". The height of the bars indicates the total number of references, the black columns referring only to journal papers.

Commercial applications of poloxamines cover the petroleum industry, where they are used at relatively high concentrations as anti-foaming and deemulsifier agents (25,29), and the field of contact lens washing solutions in which poloxamines are incorporated to remove sorbed proteins and to enhance the comfort felling (30,31). Although still few, the studies carried out in the pharmaceutical and biomedical fields have shown the potential of poloxamines as components of transdermal formulations (32), as tissue scaffolds (33-36), and for nanoparticle engineering (37). Figure 2 shows the evolution in last two decades of the number of publications related to polymeric micelles of poloxamines and to poloxamines as components of surface modified nanoparticles for biomedical purposes. The gain in knowledge about toxicological properties and safety (37,38) and on the selfassembly at physiological conditions, together with the development of less time consuming methods for a precise quantification of poloxamines at complex samples (39,40), are expected to increase the interest in poloxamines as components of drug delivery systems. The main two sections below summarize the current state of art of poloxamines as micellar carriers and as stealth coatings of nanoparticles.

3. POLOXAMINE MICELLES

3.1. Self-assembly process

The molecular weight, the EO/PO ratio and the hydrophilelipophile balance (HLB) of poloxamines strongly determine the self-associative behavior and the temperaturesensitiveness and, consequently, their performance as micellar carriers (41-43). Furthermore, the physicalchemical conditions of the medium, particularly the pH and the ionic strength, change the protonation extent of the ethylenediamine central group, perturbing the hydrophobic interactions that govern the self-assembly phenomena. Consequently, both structural parameters and stimulisensitiveness have an enormous impact on their performance as drug nanocarriers. According to the HLB

Medium	pH of the	X_{cmc}	ΔH_{mic}	ΔG_{mic}	ΔS_{mic}
	T904	(mole	(KJ/mol)	(KJ/mol)	(J/molK)
	solution	fraction)	` '	` '	, ,
Water	8.5	$2.69 \cdot 10^{-6}$	168	-49.56	701
pH 7.4 buffer	7.4	$2.42 \cdot 10^{-6}$	161	-49.97	680
pH 5.8 buffer	5.8	7.00·10 ⁻⁶	261	-61.15	1039
HCl 0.01M	6.0	7.00·10 ⁻⁶	167	-61.15	735
HCl 0.01M +	6.0	7.00·10 ⁻⁶	255	-61.15	1019
NaCl 0.9%					
HCl 0.1M	1.2	1.08.10-5	60	-88.40	478

 Table 2. Thermodynamic parameters of micellization of T904 in aqueous solutions of different pH and ionic strength

Standard deviation was in all cases lower than 2%. Reproduced with permission from (42).



Figure 3. Calorimetric profiles of the demicellization process, at 310 K, of 10% T904 solutions prepared in different media: water (open circles), pH 7.4 buffer (full down triangles), pH 5.8 buffer (full up triangles), HCl 0.1M (full squares), HCl 0.01M (open up triangles), and HCl 0.01M with 0.9% NaCl (open down triangle). Reproduced with permission from (42).

values (Table 1), poloxamines can be classified in three main groups: a) highly hydrophilic (T908, T1107 and T1307); b) medium hydrophilic (T304, T904 and T1304) and c) highly hydrophobic (T701, T901, T1301, T90R4 and T150R1). Despite poloxamines are usually considered to be non-ionic surfactants, they have a central diamine group that can be protonated to render a positively charged structure (44). The pH-sensitiveness of poloxamines micelles offer interesting features compared to the micelles of non-ionic block copolymers, such as poloxamers, for developing pharmaceutical nanocarriers with ability to host/release drugs as a function of pH.

The titration profile of poloxamines shows two inflection points that correspond to dissociation of both protons from the nitrogen atoms on the central ethylene diamine group. The pK_{a1} and the pK_{a2} are in the range 4.0 to 5.6 and 7.5 to 8.1, respectively. At a constant temperature of 25°C, the diprotonated form is the predominant one at pH values below 4, while the

monoprotonated one is the predominant form in the pH range between the pK_{a1} and the pK_{a2} . Above pH 8 poloxamines are not protonated. The likelihood of micelles formation depends on the balance between the free energy of micellization and the free energy of protonation. As the pH decreases, the deprotonation-micellization becomes more difficult (44).

Isoperibol microcalorimetry has been used to gain insight into the energy associated to the micellization/demicellization process of poloxamines. Poloxamine micellization is an endothermic entropy-driven process owing to hydrophobic interactions between the PPO blocks. Experiments carried out with T904 revealed remarkable differences in enthalpy and CMC, depending on the composition of the medium (Figure 3) (42). The exothermic demicellization process of poloxamines resembles that of poloxamers, which takes place through hydrogen-bonding formation between the PEO blocks and water after breakage of water-water and copolymercopolymer hydrogen-bonds (45-47). The thermodynamic parameters of T904 micellization in different aqueous media are summarized in Table 1. As the pH of the T904 solutions decreases, the CMC rises. The decrease in ΔH observed at pH 1.2 is related to an apparent reduction in the entropy-driven force for micellization (Table 2), which is due to the disturbance of the microenvironment around the PPO blocks in the diprotonated species and, hence, to the weaker hydrophobic associations generated. At acid pH, an increase in ionic strength results in a greater micellization enthalpy, which can be attributed to the shields of the ionic repulsions among the protonated ethylenediamine groups and to a salting-out effect on the PEO blocks that promotes hydrogen bonding (48). Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) micrographs of T904 30% systems, prepared and visualized at 20°C, clearly showed the influence of pH and ionic strength on the micellar size. 2-nm micelles were observed in HCl 0.1M, while in water and NaOH 0.02M the diameter was 10-20 nm. In phosphate buffers, the micelles presented a wider size distribution. Dynamic light scattering (DLS) experiments carried out at 37°C showed unimodal distributions with micellar radius increasing from 0.9 nm to 4 nm as pH increases (42). When comparing T904 with T304 and T1307, the micellization enthalpy ranked in the order $T1307 \ge T904 \gg T304$. The small T304 requires a remarkably greater concentration to induce the self-associative process and, once the micelles are formed, they are easily broken by dilution, which is related to their shorter PPO and PEO chains. On the other hand, the length of both blocks has been also shown to exert a remarkable effect on the states of water in the poloxamine dispersions. Only free and bound water were evidenced, by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) and FTIR, in 10 to 40% T304 and T904 aqueous dispersions. Bound water corresponded to 3 water molecules per EO repeating unit. T1307 aqueous dispersions also evidenced the presence of water at a third type of state: a monomolecular layer of interfacial water onto the EO units (1 water molecule per EO unit) (43).

A comparative study carried out in HCl 10 mM with almost all available poloxamines and a methylated

Poloxamine	Self-aggregation concentrations (mM)		
	Surface tension	I ₃₇₁ /I ₃₈₁	Minimum solubilizing concentration
T304	12.1	6.06	12.1
T901	2.12	1.48	1.49
T904	0.29	1.04	1.04
T908	0.28	0.40	0.80
T1107	0.67	0.46	0.67
Met-T1107	0.67	0.67	0.67
T1301	1.47	0.15	1.47
T1307	0.56	0.56	0.56
T150R1	0.88	0.09	0.88

Table 3. CMC values estimated from surface tension measurements, pyrene fluorescence and solubilization of simvastatin in HCl 10 mM at 25°C

Reproduced with permission from (49)



Figure 4. Surface tension plots of poloxamines in HCl 10 mM at 25°C. Reproduced with permission from (49).

derivative of T1107 (met-T1107) enabled the elucidation of the effect of structural features on self-assembly under adverse conditions (49). Similarly to other related copolymers such as poloxamers, the surface tension profiles of the poloxamines (Figure 4) show several regions of different slopes in the surface tension plots and, consequently, deviate from the model classically used to interpret the behavior of surface-active substances (41, 46). The various slopes in the semi-log plot (Figure 4) may reflect conformational changes to enable more copolymer molecules to reach the interface. In a separate study with T803, it was found that the middle region of its surface tension plot becomes more evident as the pH decreases and the unimers are in the diprotonated form, which was related to the hindering effect of protonation on the micellization phenomenon. At pH 2.8 the CMC of T803 was found to be 1.6 mM (41).

Three well-differentiated groups can be established according to the surface tension profiles (Figure 4) and the evolution of pyrene fluorescence as a function of poloxamine concentration [49]: 1. T304 shows the lowest surface activity and requires a high concentration to form micelles. Between 0.5 mM and 12 mM the surface tension rapidly decreases and then a plateau is reached.

2. T1107, met-T1107, T908 and T1307 present an almost constant slope in the semi-log plot. These varieties possess the lowest PO/EO ratio and, thus, the highest HLB. The I_1/I_3 ratio of pyrene fluorescence slowly decreases as the concentration of these poloxamines raises, showing a marked difference between the concentration at which the first changes in the I_1/I_3 ratio were observed and the concentration at which the plateau was reached. Compared to T1107, the methylated derivative (met-T1107) show a nearly superimposable profile, which means that methylation does not significantly alter the self-association of the poloxamine at acid pH.

3. T901, T904, T1301 and T150R1 are highly surfaceactive. These poloxamines have the highest PO/EO ratio and a low-to-medium HLB. The surface tension plots of these copolymers had an initial sharp slope up to 10^{-3} mM, followed by a second region of much lower slope. T1301 and T150R1 plots evidence a marked increase in the hydrophobicity of the environment when the unimers associate as micelles.

The CMC of the poloxamines (estimated applying different methods, Table 3) are in the same order of magnitude of those of related diblock and triblock PO-EO copolymers (including poloxamers). The longer the hydrophobic chains, the lower the CMC is. Nevertheless, the slope of the logCMC (proportional to the Gibbs energy of micellization, Figure 5) and the total hydrophobe chain length (0.019) was smaller than that previously found for diblock and triblock amphiphilic copolymers (0.041-0.056). Thus, the particular X-shape of poloxamines with the PO blocks separated in four arms notably influences the selfassembly process: the incidence of PO units on CMC being less marked [49]. SLS and DLS experiments indicated that micelles of water-soluble poloxamines are mainly formed by 3 to 14 unimers and posses a core with a radius of 2.5-3.5 nm and a total hydrodynamic radius of 5-12 nm. The greater the PO/EO ratio, the larger the micelles are as confirmed by TEM micrographs. The hydrophobic poloxamines T901 and T150R1 evidenced the coexistence of aggregates of varied sizes. Such behavior was also seen for T1301 systems although less markedly. It is interesting to note that the methylated derivative of T1107, which posses a permanent positive charge at the ethylenediemine central group, leads to micelles of markedly lower size. This means that although met-T1107 can self-assemble, a lesser number of unimers are gathered together in each single micelle. This behavior could rely on a stronger repulsion between the positively-charged central blocks and the steric hindrance of the bulky methyl group.

3.2. Drug solubilization and stabilization

The capability of poloxamine micelles to host relatively hydrophobic drugs and to increase their apparent solubility and/or to protect them against chemical or biological degradation has been already demonstrated for



Figure 5. Dependence of CMC values obtained from pyrene fluorescence measurements on the total hydrophobe length (i.e. four times the PO values of Table 1) of the poloxamines. Reproduced with permission from (49).

relevant therapeutic agents, such as antifungal, hypolipidemic, or antiviral drugs (50). The pHsensitiveness of T904 micellization was clearly reflected in the amount of griseofulvin solubilized in 10% copolymer solutions prepared in different media. Solubility of griseofulvin in water is low and pH-independent (4 mg/100 ml). T904 micelles increased drug solubility 3-fold in HCl 0.1M and 6-fold under alkaline pH conditions (42). The fraction of drug hosted by the micelles as well as the amount of drug that was incorporated per gram of PPO block clearly raised as the pH increased. These findings are related to the influence of pH on the protonation and hydrophobicity of the unimers and, consequently, on the concentration and properties of the micelles. The lower the pH is, the lower the number of micelles in the medium. As reported for T803, protonation of the central diamine group results in a shift in the CMC towards greater concentration and in a decrease in the solubilizing ability in the post-CMC region. A raise in pH from 4 to 10.3 increased the apparent solubility of naphthalene, phenanthrene and pyrene by one, two and three orders of magnitude, respectively, in 5 mM T803. Similar increments in solubility of phenanthrene and pyrene were observed at pH 5.6 when the temperature of the poloxamine solution rose from 25 to 40°C (41).

pH-dependent solubilization has been also observed for triclosan in T1107 medium, although with a more complex behaviour due to the ionization of the drug at extremely high pH-values (>10) and a more limited ability of generating hydrogen bonding between the aromatic –OH moiety of the drug and the polyether chains (51). The antibacterial activity of triclosan against clinically relevant pathogens, including methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* (VREF), is limited due to the low concentrations achieved by this drug in surfactant-free medium. To overcome this problem, triclosan was

solubilized in T1107 dispersions at various pH valuess. As expected, a decrease in CMC values occurred as pH increased: from 0.61% at pH 2.0 to 0.16% at pH 12, as determined by surface tension. Triclosan solubility rose from 0.002 mg/ml in poloxamine-free medium to 0.62, 0.73 and 0.75 mg/ml in 0.5% solutions of T1107 prepared at pH 2.0, 5.8 and 7.4, respectively. An increase in the poloxamine concentration up to 3% enabled the solubilization of 17 mg of triclosan per ml at pH 7.4, owing to an increase in the number of micelles in the medium. Further increases in poloxamine concentration led to a less pronounced solubility increase; 10% T1107 systems solublized ~30 mg/ml. This behavior is explained by the incorporation of more unimers to the micelles, increasing the size of the preexistent micelles but not significantly their number. A similar finding has been reported for solubilization of polyaromatic hydrocarbons by poloxamine 803 (41). In the case of a 10% T1107 solution, a sharp growth in the size of micellar aggregates (from 190 to 500 nm) was observed by DLS when triclosan was incorporated into the micelles up to saturation. Simultaneously, the system became opalescent (51). Stability studies were carried out to elucidate changes in the hosting performance of the micelles as a function of time, under the regular room temperature fluctuations of a formulation intended for topical application. A sharp decrease in triclosan solubility (below 30% and 10% of the initial level after one and two months, respectively) was only observed for 1% poloxamine concentrations. Greater poloxamine concentration was capable to effectively maintain the drug solubilized for three months. The failure of the 1% poloxamine system was attributed to that the closeness to the CMC (0.5%) may enable that small temperature fluctations result in the disassembly of the micelles, releasing the drug to the unfavourable medium. Triclosanpoloxamine systems can be freeze-dried and redispersed in water maintaining the initial solubility performance. It is worthy to note that, despite the affinity of the drug for the micellar core, triclosan-poloxamine systems showed an antibacterial activity far better than triclosan alone solutions. This means that triclosan can be efficiently delivered to the bacteria growth medium reaching a higher concentration level. Inclusion of triclosan into poloxamine micelles led to a more effective inhibition of MRSA and VREF growth and to a very relevant antibacterial activity against Staphylococcus epidermidis biofilm (Figure 6) (51).

Triclocarban is an extremely poorly-water soluble microbicide (~50 ng/ml) that displays a molecular structure similar to that of triclosan, though without the phenol group. Ionization of a ureide functional group at pH-values above the pK_a (~ 12) is supported by the increase in the intrinsic solubility of the drug above this pH from 50 to 300 ng/ml. When the solubility in T1107 and T1307 polymeric micelles was investigated, solubility gradually increased between pH 2 and 7.4 (up to 4 orders of magnitude) and decreased slightly above pH 12 due to the ionization and a more limited H-bonding interaction (Figure 7) (52). In addition, the solubilization ability of T1307 polymeric micelles was substantially higher than that of T1107. T1307 posseses higher molecular weight and

Poloxamine	Poloxamine concentration (%)	Peak 1	Peak 2		
		Size	%	Size	%
		(nm)		(nm)	
T1107	3	8.03	82.9	89.81	17.1
	5	6.89	68.8	64.11	31.2
	7	6.51	56.5	112.7	43.5
T1307	3	8.05	52.2	76.4	47.8
	5	6.97	53.3	54.3	46.7
	7	6.05	37.0	50.3	63.0

Table 4. Micellar size and size distribution (% intensity) of triclocarban-loaded 3, 5 and 7% T1107 and T1307 systems (polydispersity index 0.419-0.530)

Reproduced with permission from (52)



Figure 6. Staphylococcus epidermidis CFUs (Log10) in a biofilm assay after 30 and 90 minutes. The Log₁₀CFU value at time = 0 was 6.65 ± 0.44 (n=3). Reproduced with permission from (51).

enlargement of the micellar core (from about 4500 to 5400 Da) that could favor a more efficient solubilization.

The influence of triclocarban loading on the micellar size was studied by DLS and compared to the size of drug-free nanocarriers. Two main populations were observed (Table 4). Small size aggregates (~6-8 nm) were in agreement with the presence of regular drug-loaded micelles; this size population decreased in intensity as the polymer concentration (and the drug loading) increased. In addition, larger aggregates in the ~65-110 nm range indicated the enlargement of the micelles due to the incorporation of triclocarban into the micellar core. It is worth mentioning that triclocarban/poloxamine systems were completely transparent, which means that micellar fusion was not involved in the aggregates enlargement process [51]. The solubility improvement achieved with the incorporation of triclocarban to the micelles led to a slightly broadening of the inhibition area of Gram positive Staphylococcus aureus and MRSA in plate assays.

Since the oral route is the most patient friendly and of first choice for most systemic long-term treatments, solubilization studies carried out with the hypolipidemic drug simvastatin were focused on the capability of poloxamines to effectively host and protect this drug in an acidic environment. As explained above low pH environments as of the gastric medium are the less favourable for micellization. Additionally, the stability of

simvastatin lactone form can be compromised. Simvastatin exhibits a quite limited oral bioavailability because the drug predominantly exists in the poorly water soluble lactonic form at intermediate pH values (53,54). The drug undergoes reversible hydrolysis to the hydroxy acid form at both very low and alkaline pH values. Similarly to other polymeric micelles capable of stabilizing sensitive molecules (55), some poloxamines were able to protect simvastatin lactone from a gastric-mimicked environment, preventing hydrolysis to the open form. Simvastatin solubility was remarkably enhanced in micellar medium of poloxamines 1301 and 150R1, which posses the highest surface activity and provide micellar cores with a more hydrophobic environment (Figure 8). In quantitative terms, micellar solutions of 10% T901, T904, T908, T1107, met-T1107, T1301, T1307 and T150R1 raised the apparent solubility of simvastatin by a factor of 3.7, 8.5, 2.4, 4.7, 8.3, 391, 21, and 152, respectively. Furthermore, the lactone form predominates in the micellar systems constituted by T1301, T1307 or T150R1, which posses the longest PPO blocks. The apparent partition coefficients of lactone and hydroxy acid forms at pH 5 have been estimated as 53800 and 4200, respectively (53). The hydrophobic cores of T1301, T1307 and T150R1 are able to host the lactone species, which are the most hydrophobic ones, and to protect them efficiently against the hydrolysis caused by the surrounding acid aqueous environment. The relatively larger radius of the micellar core of T1301 explains the highest capability to load and to protect lactone molecules compared to the micelles formed by the other poloxamines. The unexpected relatively high solubilization observed in the hardly micellizable T304 solutions was explained by the raise in the pH of the medium caused by this poloxamine (>7), which prompted the lactone form of simvastatin to transform into a salt of the hydroxy acid form. On the other hand, the positive effect of the methylation of poloxamine 1107 suggests a higher drug/micellar core affinity.

Another relevant aspect related to the *in vivo* performance of polymeric micelles refers to their kinetic stability, which enables the micelles to remain assembled for long time after dilution (56). Recording the absorbance of simvastatin-loaded micelles (10% poloxamine in HCl 10 mM) when subjected to a sudden 26-fold dilution, three differentiated responses were evidenced: a) one fastly disintegrating group (T901, T904, T908 and T1107), b) one intermediate group (T304, T1301 and T150R1) that still maintain solubilized nearly 60% drug after one hour, and c) one very stable group formed by poloxamine 1307 and met-T1107. These two latter varieties combine a relatively good efficiency for protecting the lactone form and a high stability against dilution, owing the stabilizing effect of its larger PEO shell.

3.3. In situ gelling systems

The viscoelastic behaviour of poloxamines as a function of their concentration as well as the effect of several stimuli such as pH and temperature has attracted some attention (57). At room temperature, 10% poloxamine solutions show a mainly viscous behaviour (only loss modulus G' is quantificable) with negligible storage



Figure 7. Dependence of triclocarban (TCC) solubility on T1307 concentration in media of different pH, expressed as ratio between the solubility in T1307 solution and in water. Reproduced with permission from (52).



Figure 8. Molar solubilization capacity, i.e., the number of moles of simvastatin that can be solubilized by one mol of poloxamine at micellar state (white bars) and ratio of lactone to hydroxy acid forms of simvastatin in drug-saturated 10% poloxamine solutions in HCl 10 mM (circles connected with a line to serve as a guide to the eyes). Reproduced with permission from (49).

modulus (G'). When the solutions are heated, a sharp raise of G' is often apparent; the sol-gel transition temperature being 35.7°C for T1307 and 62.4°C for T304 and T904 (Figure 9) (58). Similarly to other PPO-PEO block copolymers, poloxamines become less hydrophilic as the temperature rises owing to the progressive dehydration of the polyether blocks. This process promotes the formation of more micelles and, eventually, their packing into body centred cubic phase gels (59). The highest values of both G'and G'' occur at the temperature with the highest micellar volume fraction. At greater temperatures, the dehydration of PPO chains, and even of PEO blocks, causes the polymer to phase separate, and G' and G'' to decrease. For example, 50% solutions of T704 exhibited two transitions: the first (sol-to-gel) at 26°C and the second (melting of the gel) at 53°C (57). The differences in the gel temperature among poloxamines are explained by the length of PPO and PEO blocks. Compared to T304 and T904, T1307 has a greater ability to bind water to its structure because T1307 has sufficient EO groups per block for adopting a helicoidal conformation in which interfacial (freezing bound) water may exist. Interfacial water is easily lost during the heating process. Additionally, the hydrophobic association requires a minimum number of PO units per block. It was shown that for a given content in EO groups, the longer the PO block of Pluronics, the lower the gel temperature (60). These reasons explain the low gel temperature of T1307 compared to T904 and T304.

In the case of T904 and T908, a concentration of 30% is needed to observe gelation at 30-36°C due to the transformation of the aqueous micellar solution into a crystalline phase (42,60). At room temperature, 30% T904 solutions behave as Newtonian viscous fluids disregarding the pH of the medium. The sol-to-gel transition was observed around 30°C for solutions prepared in neutral pH. By contrast, in HCl 0.1M a negligible storage modulus was recorded, which clearly indicates that the copolymer chains cannot entangle when they are strongly protonated (42). Therefore, in highly acidic physiological environment it is not expected that T904 systems become gel-like. Such a dependence of the rheological properties on the pH of the medium notably determines drug diffusion rate at physiological temperature. Griseofulvin release profiles from 30% T904 solutions revealed that the diffusion coefficients obtained in HCl 0.1M $(1.46 \cdot 10^{-4}; \text{ s.d. } 8.5 \cdot 10^{-6})$ cm²/min) were almost twice those recorded at pH 7.4 phosphate buffer (0.89·10⁻⁴; s.d. 8.7·10⁻⁶ cm²/min).

The sol-gel transitions of 20-25% w/w T1508 in water take place at 25-27°C with a 4-fold increase in the apparent viscosity of the medium. Such an increase in viscosity did not decrease the degradation rate of aspirin as much as expected, which was attributed to the existence of a low viscosity microenvironment (1-10 mPa·s) within the network (10^6 mPa·s). The existence of enough content in free water may explain the low viscosity at the microscopic level. The findings suggest that the sol-gel transition did not decrease the proportion of free water (61). In this sense, it was even observed a decrease in microviscosity as the temperature of poloxamine 704 increases above the critical micellar temperature, from 65 mPa·s at 35°C to 35 mPa·s at 50°C. This effect is explained by the increasing packing of the micellar cores as temperature increases (62).

Combination of the surface activity with the *in situ* gelling features has been used for the design of solid self-(micro)emulsifying delivery systems, S(M)EDDS, for poorly-soluble drugs, based on mixtures of poloxamines and polyglycolyzed glycerides (e.g., Labrasol[®], Labrafac[®], and Labrafil[®]) (58). Under the temperature and waving conditions of the gastrointestinal tract, S(M)EDDS can lead to microemulsions *in situ* with enhanced drug solubility and improved oral absorption (63,64). Mixtures of T304 and T904 with any glyceride led to homogeneous microemulsions once diluted in water. By contrast, T1307 was only miscible with Labrasol[®], the most hydrophilic



Figure 9. Effect of temperature on the storage (G', solid symbols) and loss (G", open symbols) moduli of 10% Tetronic solutions. Reproduced with permission from (58).

glyceride evaluated. In some glyceride-poloxamine aqueous dispersions the solubility of griseofulvin was markedly greater than in the glyceride-free poloxamine solution. To prepare the S(M)EDDS, griseofulvin (1.5 g) was dispersed in Labrasol[®] or Labrasol[®]:poloxamine 80:20 mixtures (13.5 g) at 60°C under stirring, and then 1 ml was injected into the body of hard capsules (100 mg dose of griseofulvin). Two different experiments were carried out in order to investigate the release profile: i) the classical test using the type II USP apparatus with 900 ml of buffer phosphate; and ii) a dissolution experiment using 200 ml medium to mimic the solvent volume (a glass of water) used in the Biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS) to estimate whether a given amount of drug has solubility limitations when orally administered (65). Griseofulvin release profiles in 900 ml medium showed that the glyceride:copolymer 80:20 mixture clearly promotes both dissolution rate and total solubility, despite the copolymer concentration was below CMC. The most efficient system was the mixture containing T904. Capsules prepared with T1307 had a slightly slower release rate due to the gelation process of the copolymer/glyceride mixture when it comes into contact with the medium at 37°C. In 200 ml medium greater drug solubility values were observed since higher concentration of solubilizing agents was attained. It is important to highlight that a clear effect of pH was also noted for drug release from S(M)EDDS prepared with poloxamines: the lower the pH. the lower the solubilization capability and the poorer the stability of the microemulsion (58). Such a pHsensitiveness of the self-associative properties of poloxamines may be an advantage for some drugs that are unstable at acidic pH or that may cause untoward reactions if a fast dissolution in the stomach occurs.

4. POLYMERIC NANOPARTICLES COATED WITH POLOXAMINES

Nanoparticles are interesting delivery systems for intravenous administration of drugs, hormones, enzymes or

contrast agents. Encapsulation in the nanoparticles offers protection over prolonged periods of time and enables systemic or targeted release (66-68). Nevertheless, the first generation of non-coated nanoparticles failed due to short vascular circulation lifetimes (69,70). In general, particles in the blood stream are rapidly recognized and captured by the reticuloendotelial system (RES) and thus cleared within short periods after their injection (71,72). Coating of nanoparticles with copolymers containng poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO) blocks (PEGylation) has attracted much attention in the last two decades in order to overcome these limitations (73). The hydrophobic blocks of the copolymer serve as anchorage points to the nanoparticle surface, while the PEO blocks make the particle surface non-charged and less hydrophobic, providing a mobile stealthy shell that hinders the recognition by RES (74,75). In the particular case of poloxamine copolymers, electrostatic interactions between their tertiary amine groups and certain anionic groups on the surface of the nanoparticles also contributes to a more efficient coating, but makes the thickness of the coating sensitive to the conditions of the medium (76). Immobilization of poloxamines on particle surface remarkably modifies the circulation time and the biodistribution when the length of the PEO chains exceeds a minimum. Interestingly, it has been shown that such a coating has not necessarily to occur before administration, but it may also happen in vivo if poloxamine solution is injected some time before the nanoparticles.

In vitro coating of the nanoparticles can be easily achieved by preincubation in 1.0% w/v solutions of selected poloxamines at room temperature. This concentration is well above the plateau of the adsorption isotherms (0.005 to 0.1 %w/v) found for these copolymers and other structurally related polymers on polystyrene latex (77). The stealth effect of the coating layer is mainly determined by the length of the PEO chains and the EO/PO ratio. In general, the longer the PEO, the thicker the coating is. For example, T304 (4 EO per block), T904 (19 EO per block), T707 (50 EO per block), T1508 (60 EO per block), and T908 (114 EO per block) provide coating layers onto polystyrene with a thickness of 2.1, 4.6, 9.1, 11.7 and 15.5 nm, respectively. A thickness of 4 nm has been established as the critical threshold for steric stabilization against phagocytic uptake of large particles (78,79). On the other hand, a long PPO block promotes a better anchoring on the surface, but simultaneously renders a flatter adsorption of the poloxamine; i.e. less poloxamine molecules per area. Therefore, an adequate balance between EO and PO groups is required. The most promising results have been obtained with T904 and T908.

Microcalorimetric titration experiments revealed that, in general, the adsorption process of ethoxylated amphiphilic copolymers on polystyrene nanoparticles takes place in three sequential steps: a) an exothermic phase due to hydrophobic interaction of the copolymer and the particle surface; b) an endothermic phase due to interfacial micelle formation, which is the most relevant event and indicates that the adsorption is a mainly entropy-driven process; and c) an exothermic phase due to molecular rearrangements in the adsorption layer. This third step was



Figure 10. Schematic view of the changes in the conformation of PEO and PPO blocks onto the nanoparticle surface when the poloxamine concentration in the medium raises.

only observed for high molecular weight copolymers (80). Recently, fine construction of sorption isotherms evidenced that adsorption of T908 onto polystyrene nanoparticles (232 nm) follows a bimodal pattern and that physiologically relevant changes in the conformation of the PEO chains occur as the adsorption progresses (81). At low concentrations, the isotherm follows the Langmuir profile up to a plateau observable at an equilibrium poloxamine concentration of 0.004-0.007% (3712 poloxamine molecules/nanosphere), which corresponds to a coating of 4.6 nm thickness. Then, the sorption increases again and a final plateau is reached at concentrations above 0.015% (12000 poloxamine molecules/nanosphere = $0.112 \mu mol/m^2$), which corresponds to a thickness of 9.5 nm. Since the radius of gyration of a PEO chain of T908 is 3.1 nm, the thickness at the final plateau should be 6.2 nm and not 9.5 nm. Such a discrepancy reveals that the PPO block also contributes to the thickness of the coating adopting loops and trails conformations. Furthermore, the increase in the thickness from the first plateau to the second one also reveals rearrangements in the conformation of the PEO chains at the nanoparticle surface (Figure 10). The first plateau may correspond to a mushroom-like conformation, in which the PEO chains are not completely extended towards the outer medium but some portions are in close contact with the surface of the particle. As poloxamine concentration in the outer solution increases, the surface of the nanoparticle becomes crowded with the copolymer. This causes a lateral compression of the PEO blocks and makes them to arrange in a direction perpendicular to the plane of the particle surface (brush conformation). Poloxamine adsorption remarkably increased (up to 15fold) the viscosity of the colloidal systems, due to interactions and entanglements among the PEO chains of adjacent nanoparticles. Another difference with uncoated nanoparticles was that poloxamine adsorption beyond the second plateau prevented the activation of the complement system when placed in human serum. Therefore, nanoparticles coated with T908 at the saturation level are resistant to blood opsonization. At least 90% surface coverage is necessary in order to minimize the initiation of untoward immunological reactions (81).

Pioneering studies by the group of Illum and Davis demonstrated that the coating process enhances the

hydrophilic character of polystyrene particles and dramatically reduces their interaction with peritoneal macrophages. The incidence of surface characteristics on the interaction of colloidal particles with mouse peritoneal macrophages (82) and liver cells has been studied both in vitro and in vivo (83). For example, the hepatic uptake of uncoated particles was 38.6% of the injected dose while those coated with T904, T908 or T1508 were only uptaken to 5.5, 4.9 and 2.3% extents, respectively. Similar results were reported by the group of Müller, who observed that T1508 was able to increase the nanoparticle levels in blood for up to 6 hours by a factor between 19 and 268 in comparison to untreated control nanoparticles. The levels in RES organs decreased while in non-RES organs (mainly kidneys, heart, brain and ovaries) remarkably increased (78). These findings have been explained by steric repulsive barriers imposed by the hydrophilic PEO blocks of poloxamines to particle-cell adhesion; the longer the hydrophilic chain, the greater the steric stabilization effect. The interaction with liver cells was further reduced in the presence of either autologous plasma or serum. A heatstable (60°C for 15 min) serum component of molecular mass above 100 kDa was found to mediate this suppressive effect. Studies carried out with T908-coated gold nanoparticles confirmed that the coating modulates particle clearance by effectively blocking opsonization but still allowing for dysopsonization (i.e., preferential adsorption of albumin and apolipoproteins) (84). The prolonged circulation time enables particles coated with T908 to reach sites of induced inflammation in tight muscles (85).

Poloxamine-coated particles become splenotropic, making the spleen the primary site of clearance (86). After intravenous administration to rats, T908-coated particles mostly remained in blood up to 3 hours but the fraction accumulated in the rat spleen by a filtration mechanism progressively increased and was completed 24 hours post-administration. The macrophages of the red-pulp can effectively phagocytose the particles after 24 hours, mostly because the lost of T908 from the surface and/or the neutralization of the hydrophilic shell by biological substances within the spleen (87). Unexpectedly, repeated daily-doses of poloxamine-coated microspheres did not saturate splenic and phagocytic functions, but promoted a rapid and dominant uptake by the liver that resulted in a low blood concentration of microspheres. These results suggested an enhanced opsonic activity of serum and humoral response following repeated administration of the coated microspheres. Further studies revealed that a single injection of T908-coated particles also dramatically affects the circulation half-life and the biodistribution of a second dose administered between 3 and 13 days latter. The second dose is rapidly recognized by the macrophages of liver and spleen and cleared from the body faster. This behavior can be reverted to the situation observed for the first injection when free T908 is injected as a bolus (30 mg per 150 g body weight) 1-3 hours before the second dose of coated nanoparticles (88). It was suggested that the poloxamine, as well as some poloxamers, can adhere to the hydrophobic domains or penetrate the lipid bilayer of macrophage plasmalemma through the PPO chain, creating a steric hindrance to the

olouisuloudion			
Nanoparticles	Poloxamine	Reference	
Polystyrene	304, 707, 904, 908, 1508	74, 79, 81,88, 92, 107	
polycyanoacrylate	908	93, 94, 108	
poly(beta-hydroxybutyrate)	908	95	
poly(lactic acid)	908	95	
poly(lactic-co-glicolic acid)	904, 908	96,97,99,100,101	
poly(methyl methacrylate) and other acrylic polymers	908, 1508	75,78,109,110,111	
Poly(beta-malic acid-co-benzyl malate)	304, 504, 704, 904, 908, 1504	76	

Table 5. Poloxamines used to coat nanoparticles with a stealth shell in order to enhance blood circulation time and to modify the biodistribution

interaction with the second nanoparticles. Alternatively, the free poloxamine can also cover the coated nanoparticles with a stealthier layer prolonging the circulation time. When the interval between the two injections was 2 weeks, poloxamine-coated particles again exhibited long circulation half-life (89). The guaranty that every successive administration of coated particles exhibits a similar circulation half-life is very relevant in the case of treatments that require several doses, such as cancer therapy. Overall, intravenous injection of poloxamine prior to particle injection has been shown as a successful approach to increase the blood circulation time of nanoparticles without altering macrophage phagocytic activity, but efficiently acting as stealth coats of the nanoparticles (90,91).

Coating with poloxamines has been also explored as a way of promoting the lymphatic distribution of subcutaneously administered 60 nmpolystyrene nanospheres. Delivery of therapeutic agents to the regional lymph nodes requires a good spread from the injection site and a good uptake in the regional nodes. 70% of uncoated nanoparticles remained at the interstitial site even at 24 hours post-administration. By contrast, poloxamine-coated nanospheres could move easily through the interstitium owing to minimization of the interaction with the components of the gel-like matrix. This requires that the dimensions of the PEO chains exceed the range of the van der Waals attraction force. Poloxamines with less than 15 EO units (e.g., T901 and T904) are too short to prevent opsonization and, thus, the particles are sequestered by the macrophages of the regional lymph nodes. In particular, T904 notably enhances lymphatic absorption of the nanoparticles from the subcutaneous injection site. Longer PEO chains (T908) prevent opsonization, limiting the ability of the regional lymph nodes to retain the particles and, consequently, the particles reach the systemic circulation (92).

Modulation of the biodistribution has been not only proved for polystyrene particles, but also for poly(butyl 2-cyanoacrylate) (93,94), poly(betahydroxybutyrate) (PHB) (95), poly(lactic acid) (PLA) (95), poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) (96,97), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) (78) (Table 5). For example, coating with T908 of PMMA particles contributes to prevent drug precipitation in the gastrointestinal tract, to facilitate the contact with the absorbing surface of the gut, and even to enhance the uptake of the nanoparticles across the gastrointestinal walls, resulting in longer blood circulation time and reduced liver uptake (98).

Since the adsorption of poloxamines on polyester nanoparticles (PLA, PLGA and PHB) is in general less efficient than that on polystyrene nanoparticles (95), the possibilities of incorporating poloxamines to PLGA nanoparticles as structural components have been explored. Blends of PLGA:poloxamine (T904 or T908) have been used to obtain nanoparticles by an emulsification-solvent diffusion technique. The blend nanoparticles exhibit the copolymer at both the matrix and the outer face of the nanoparticles, notably modifying their electrophoretic mobility and enhancing physical stability through steric mechanisms without a significant increase in the nanoparticle size (99). In this regard, PLGA:poloxamine nanoparticles behave quite similar to PLGA:poloxamer F68 nanoparticles. Furthermore, the presence of poloxamine helps to maintain the stability of DNA during the biodegradation of the nanoparticles, rendering these colloidal carriers as promising gene vectors both for systemic and mucosal routes (100, 101). Poloxamines have been shown to self-assemble with DNA, through hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic electrostatic. interactions, resulting in negatively charged nanostructured materials with a conformation clearly different from that of lipoplexes and polyplexes (102,103). DNA-poloxamine 304 supramolecular assemblies were capable to deliver reporter and therapeutic genes to skeletal and heart muscle cells in vivo.

Similarly, solid lipid nanoparticles prepared with T908 have shown a modified protein adsorption pattern, compared to other nanoparticles, with a prevalence of adsorption of albumin and fibrinogen over immunoglobulin and complement activating proteins (which are not adsorbed) (104). Such a protein adsorption pattern explains the reduced uptake by the cells of the mononuclear phagocytic system and, thus, the prolonged circulation in blood. Furthermore, T908 prevented cytokine production by RAW 264.7 macrophages (105). Although the information regarding other poloxamines is scarce, poloxamines may show a trend similar to that observed for poloxamer: the shorter the PEO block, the greater the sorption of ApoE and ApoA-IV on solid lipid nanoparticles, which facilitate the targeting to the brain.

Chemically modified poloxamines have been also explored as coatings of nanoparticles. Introducing a terminal amine group at the end of each PEO block renders tetramine poloxamine that showed a greater stability of the adsorbed copolymer layer on polystyrene nanospheres but lower on PLGA nanospheres once incubated with serum *in vitro* (106). Compared to unmodified T908 which provided the polystyrene nanospheres with a 8.9 nm layer and resulted in negatively charged nanoparticles (-12.5 mV), tetramine poloxamines led to positive (+9.6 mV) 10.0 nm coatings. The free amino groups caused an increase in the phagocytosis in experiments carried out with non-parenchymal liver cells. When the amine groups were capped (acetylated), the coating was 10.2 nm, the surface recovered the anionic character (-10.6 mV) and the uptake by the cells was reduced, although it was still higher than for the unmodified nanospheres. Minor differences were observed regarding biodistribution: tetramine poloxamine enhances splenic uptake, while the capped poloxamine derivative reverts this effect and slightly enhances the fraction of nanoparticles at blood 3 hours after injection (97).

5. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

Poloxamines possess unique features compared to other PEO-PPO block copolymers, being responsive to changes in temperature, pH and ionic strength of the medium in the range of physiological values. The stimulisensitive conformation and hydrophilicity of the poloxamine unimers and micelles greatly affects to the CMC, the *in situ* gelling phenomena, and the capability of the micelles to solubilize and stabilize the drug. On the other hand, poloxamine adsorption onto polymeric nanoparticles strongly determine mucosal uptake, blood circulation time, capture by the reticuloendotelial system, biodistribution, drug release kinetics and clearance. Therefore, poloxamines are revealed as versatile copolymers that may enable the preparation of drug delivery systems with customized performance.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was financed by MICINN (SAF2008-01679), FEDER and Xunta de Galicia (PGIDT07CSA002203PR), Spain. The authors express their gratitude to BASF Corporation for providing samples of Tetronic[®] varieties. The Agencia Española de Cooperación Internacional is also acknowledged for a PCI-Iberoamerica grant (MAE, A/016343/08).

7. REFERENCES

1. Vladimir P. Torchilin: Micellar nanocarriers: Pharmaceutical perspectives. *Pharm Res* 24, 1-16 (2007)

2. Ozana Onaca, Ramona Enea, David W. Hughes, Wolfgang Meier: Stimuli-responsive polymersomes as nanocarriers for drug and gene delivery. *Macromol Biosci* 9, 129-139 (2009)

3. Hamidreza Montazeri Aliabadi, Afsaneh Lavasanifar: Polymeric micelles for drug delivery. *Expert Opin. Drug Del* 3, 139-162 (2006)

4. Chris Lipinski: Poor aqueous solubility-an industry wide problem in drug delivery. *Am Pharm Rev* 5, 82-85 (2002)

5. Marie-Christine Jones, Jean-Christophe Leroux: Polymeric micelles: a new generation of colloidal drug carriers. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 48, 101-111 (1999) 6. Mira F. Francis, Mariana Cristea, Françoise M. Winnik: Polymeric micelles for oral drug delivery: why and how. *Pure Appl Chem* 76, 1321-1335 (2004)

7. Elizabeth R. Gillies, Jean M.J. Fréchet: Development of acid-sensitive copolymer micelles for drug delivery. *Pure Appl Chem* 76, 1295–1307 (2004)

8. Vladimir P. Torchilin: Structure and design of polymeric surfactant-based drug delivery systems. *J Control Release* 73, 137-172 (2001)

9. Monica L. Adams, Afsaneh Lavasanifar, Glen S. Kwon: Amphiphilic block copolymers for drug delivery. *J Pharm Sci* 92, 1343-1355 (2003)

10. Alexander V. Kabanov, Elena V. Batrakova, Valery Yu Alakhov: Pluronic® block copolymers as novel polymer therapeutics for drug and gene delivery. *J Control Release* 82, 189-212 (2002)

11. Jessica R. DesNoyer, Anthony J. McHugh: The effect of Pluronic on the protein release kinetics of an injectable drug delivery system. *J Control Release* 86, 15-24 (2003)

12. Geneviève Gaucher, Marie-Hélène Dufresne, Vinayak P. Sant, Ning Kang, Dusica Maysinger, Jean Christophe Leroux: Block copolymer micelles: preparation, characterization and application in drug delivery. *J Control Release* 109, 169–188 (2005)

13. Hamidreza Montazeri Aliabadi, Dion R. Brocks, Afsaneh Lavasanifar. Polymeric micelles for the solubilization and delivery of cyclosporine A: pharmacokinetics and biodistribution. *Biomaterials* 26, 7251-7259 (2005)

14. Karel Ulbrich, Vladimir Subr: Polymeric anticancer drugs with pH-controlled activation. *Adv Drug Del Rev* 56, 1023-1050 (2004)

15. Karine Mondon, Robert Gurny, Michael Möller: Colloidal drug delivery systems - Recent advances with polymeric micelles. *Chimia* 62, 832-840 (2008)

16. Abdullah Mahmud, Xiao-Bing Xiong, Hamidreza Montazeri Aliabadi, Afsaneh Lavasanifar. Polymeric micelles for drug targeting. *J Drug Targeting* 15, 553-584 (2007)

17. Elvin Blanco, Chase W. Kessinger, Baran D. Sumer, Jinming Gao. Multifunctional micellar nanomedicine for cancer therapy. *Exp Biol Med* 234, 123-131 (2009)

18. Vinayak P. Sant, Damon Smith, Jean-Christophe Leroux: Novel pH-sensitive supramolecular assemblies for oral delivery of poorly water soluble drugs: preparation and characterization. *J Control Release* 97, 301-312 (2004)

19. Marie-Christine Jones, Maxime Ranger, Jean-Christophe Leroux: pH-sensitive unimolecular polymeric micelles: synthesis of a novel drug carrier. *Bioconjugate Chem* 14, 774-781 (2006)

20. Woo Sun Shim, Sung Wan Kim, Eun-Kyung Choi, Heon-Joo Park, Jin-Seok Kim, Doo Sung Lee: Novel pH sensitive block copolymer micelles for solvent free drug loading. *Macromol Biosci* 6, 179-186 (2006)

21. Natalia Rapoport: Physical stimuli-responsive polymeric micelles for anti-cancer drug delivery. *Prog Polymer Sci* 32, 962-990 (2007)

22. Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Angel Concheiro: Intelligent drug delivery systems: polymeric micelles and hydrogels. *Mini-Rev Med Chem* 8, 1065-1074 (2008)

23. Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Lev Bromberg, Angel Concheiro: Light-sensitive intelligent drug delivery systems. *Photochem Photobiol* 85, 848–860 (2009)

24. Hamidreza Montazeri Aliabadi, Mostafa Shahin, Dion R Brocks, Afsaneh Lavasanifar: Disposition of drugs in block copolymer micelle delivery systems - From discovery to recovery. *Clin Pharmacokinetics* 47, 619-634 (2008)

25. Jiangying Wu, Yuming Xu, Tadeusz Dabros, Hassan Hamza: Effect of EO and PO positions in nonionic surfactants on surfactant properties and demulsification performance. *Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Aspects* 252, 79-85 (2005)

26. Rafael Barreiro-Iglesias, Lev Bromberg, Marina Temchenko, T. Allan Hatton, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Angel Concheiro: Solubilization and stabilization of camptothecin in micellar solutions of pluronic-g-poly(acrylic acid) copolymers. *J Control Release* 97, 537-549 (2004)

27. Lev Bromberg: Polymeric micelles in oral chemotherapy. *J Control Release* 128, 99-112 (2008)

28. Alejandro Sosnik, Michael V. Sefton: Methylation of poloxamine for enhanced cell adhesion. *Biomacromolecules* 7, 331-338 (2006)

29. Claudia R. E. Mansur, Sheila P. Barboza, Gaspar González, Elizabete F. Lucas: Pluronic and tetronic polyols: study of their properties and performance in the destabilization of emulsions formed in the petroleum industry. *J Colloid Interf Sci* 271, 232-240 (2004)

30. Stephen Tonge, Lyndon Jones, Scott Goodall, Brian Tighe: The *ex vivo* wettability of soft contact lenses. *Curr Eye Res* 23, 51-59 (2001)

31. Lakshman N. Subbaraman, Simone Bayer; Staatl Gepr, Mary-Ann Glasier, Holly Lorentz, Michelle Senchyna, Lyndon Jones: Rewetting drops containing surface active agents improve the clinical performance of silicone hydrogel contact lenses. *Opt Vis Sci* 83, 143-151 (2006)

32. Markus J. Capel, Jorg Kreuter: Effect of nonionic surfactants on transdermal drug delivery: II. Poloxamer and poloxamine surfactants. *Int J Pharm* 69, 155-167 (1991)

33. Alejando Sosnik, Michael V. Sefton: Semi-synthetic collagen/poloxamine matrices for tissue engineering. *Biomaterials* 26, 7425-7435 (2005)

34. Alejandro Sosnik, Michael V. Sefton: Poloxamine hydrogels with a quaternary ammonium modification to improve cell attachment. *J Biomed Mat Res Part A* 75A, 295-307 (2005)

35. Alejandro Sosnik, Brendan Leung, Alison P. McGuigan, Michael V. Sefton: Collagen/poloxamine hydrogels: Cytocompatibility of embedded HepG2 cells and surface attached endothelial cells. *Tissue Eng* 11, 1807-1816 (2005)

36. Francesco Cellesi, Nicola Tirelli: A new process for cell microencapsulation and other biomaterial applications: thermal gelation and chemical cross-linking in "tandem". *J Mater Sci-Mater M* 16, 559-565 (2005)

37. S. Moein Moghimi, A. Christy Hunter: Poloxamers and poloxamines in nanoparticle engineering and experimental medicine. *TIBTECH* 18, 412-420 (2000)

38. Irving R. Schmolka, Reinhold K. Seizinger: New tertiary amine-based surface active polymers. *J Am Oil Chem Soc* 45, 715-719 (1968)

39. Zoltan Takats, Károli Vekey, Laszlo Hegedus: Qualitative and quantitative determination of poloxamer surfactants by mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* 15, 805-810 (2001)

40. Othman Al-Hanbali, Nneka M Onwuzo, Kenneth J Rutt, Christopher M. Dadswell, S. Moein Moghimi, A. Christy Hunter: Modification of the Stewart biphasic colorimetric assay for stable and accurate quantitative determination of Pluronic and Tetronic block copolymers for application in biological systems. *Anal Biochem* 361, 287-293 (2007)

41. Jinfeng Dong, Babur Z. Chowdhry, Stephen A. Leharne: Solubilisation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons in aqueous solutions of poloxamine T803. *Colloids Surf A: Physicochem Eng Aspects* 246, 91-98 (2004)

42. Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Jaime Gonzalez-Lopez, Marta Fernandez-Tarrio, Isabel Sandez-Macho, Angel Concheiro: Tetronic micellization, gelation and drug solubilization: Influence of pH and ionic strength. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 66, 244-252 (2007)

43. Marta Fernandez-Tarrio, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Angel Concheiro: Calorimetric approach to tetronic/water interactions. *J Thermal Anal Calor* 87, 171-178 (2007)

44. Jonathan K. Armstrong, Babur Z. Chowdhry, Martin J. Snowden, Jingfeng Dong, Stephen A. Leharne: The effect of pH and concentration upon aggregation transitions in aqueous solutions of poloxamine T901. *Int J Pharm* 229, 57-66 (2001)

45. Joseph J. Irwin, Anthony E. Beezer, John C. Mitchell, Graham Buckton, Babur Z. Chowdhry, Donald Eagland, Nicholas J. Crowther: Isothermal stability of dilute aqueous solutions of block copolymers of poly(oxyethylene)poly(oxypropylene)-poly(oxyethylene): a microcalorimetric study of pluronic F87 and pluronic F88. *J Phys Chem* 97, 2034-2036 (1993)

46. Pascalis Alexandridis, Joseph E. Holzwarth, T. Allan Hatton: Micellization of poly(ethylene oxide)poly(propylene oxide)- poly(ethylene oxide) triblock copolymers in aqueous solutions: thermodynamics of copolymer association. *Macromolecules* 27, 2414-2425 (1994)

47. Rafael Barreiro-Iglesias, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Angel Concheiro: Microcalorimetric evidence of the salt effect on carbopol microgels interaction with surfactants. *Prog Colloid Polym Sci* 122, 95-102 (2003)

48. Nivedita Pandit, Troy Trygstad, Scott Croy, Maria Bohorquez, Cody Koch: Effect of salts on the micellization, clouding, and solubilization behavior of Pluronic F127 solutions. *J Colloid Interf Sci* 222, 213-220 (2000)

49. Jaime Gonzalez-Lopez, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Pablo Taboada, Alejandro Sosnik, Isabel Sandez-Macho, Angel Concheiro: Self-associative behavior and drug solubilizing ability of poloxamine (Tetronic) block copolymer. *Langmuir* 24, 10688-10697 (2008)

50. Diego A. Chiappetta, Alejandro Sosnik: Poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide) block copolymer micelles as drug delivery agents: improved hydrosolubility, stability and bioavailability of drugs. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 66, 303-317 (2007)

51. Diego A. Chiappetta, José Degrossi, Sergio Teves, Miguel D'Aquino, Carlos Bregni, Alejandro Sosnik: Triclosan-loaded poloxamine micelles for enhanced topical antibacterial activity against biofilm. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 69, 535-545 (2008)

52. Diego A. Chiappetta, José Degrossi, Ruth A. Lizarazo, Deisy L. Salinas, Fleming Martínez, Alejandro Sosnik: Molecular implications in the solubilization of the antibacterial agent triclocarban by means of branched poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide) polymeric micelles, In: Amphiphilic block copolymers: Theory, selfassembly and applications, Nova Publishers, Columbus F. (Ed.), in press.

53. Abu T.M. Serajuddin, Sunanda A. Ranadive, Elizabeth M. Mahoney: Relative lipophilicities, solubilities, and structure-pharmacological considerations of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors pravastatin, lovastatin, mevastatin, and simvastatin. *J Pharm Sci* 80, 830-833 (1991)

54. Michael Schachter: Chemical, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of statins: an update. *Fund Clin Pharmacol* 19, 117-125 (2004)

55. Rafael Barreiro Iglesias, Lev Bromberg, Marina Temchenko, T.Allan Hatton, Angel Concheiro, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo: Solubilization and stabilization of camptothecin in micellar solutions of pluronic-gpoly(acrylic acid) copolymers. *J Control Release* 97, 537-549 (2004)

56. You Han Bae, Haiqing Yin: Stability issues of polymeric micelles. *J Control Release* 131, 2-4 (2008)

57. Jean-Pierre Habas, Emmanuel Pavie, Christelle Perreur, Alain Lapp, Jean Peyrelasse: Nanostructure in block copolymer solutions: rheology and small-angle neutron scattering. *Phys Rev E* 70, 061802 (2004)

58. Marta Fernandez-Tarrio, Fernando Yañez, Kristopher Immesoete, Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Angel Concheiro: Pluronic and Tetronic with polyglycolyzed glycerides as self-emulsifying drug delivery systems. *AAPS PharmSciTech* 9, 471-479 (2008)

59. Christelle Perreur, Jean-Pierre Habas, Jean Peyrelasse, Jeanne François, Alain Lapp: Rheological and small-angle neutron scattering studies of aqueous solutions of branched PEO-PPO-PEO copolymers. *Physical Rev E* 63, 031505 (2001)

60. Pascalis Alexandridis, Joseph F. Holzwarth, T. Allan Hatton: A correlation for the estimation of critical micellization concentrations and temperatures of polyols in aqueous-solutions. *J Am Oil Chem Soc* 72, 823-826 (1995)

61. Christopher W. Spancake, Ashim K. Mitra, Dane O. Kildsig: Kinetics of aspirin hydrolysis in aqueous solutions and gels of poloxamines (Tetronic 1508)- Influence of microenvironment. *Int J Pharm* 75, 231-239 (1991)

62. Thierry Nivaggioli, Belinda Tsao, Paschalis Alexandridis, T. Alan Hatton: Microviscosity in Pluronic and Tetronic poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide) block copolymer micelles. *Langmuir* 11, 119-126 (1995)

63. Colin W. Pouton: Formulation of poorly water-soluble drugs for oral administration: Physicochemical and physiological issues and the lipid formulation classification system. *Eur J Pharm Sci* 29, 278-287 (2006)

64. R. Neslihan Gursoy, Simon Benita: Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SMEDDS) for improved oral delivery of liphophilic drugs. *Biomed Pharmacother* 58, 173-182 (2004)

65. Ryusuke Takano, Kiyohiko Sugano, Atsuko Higashida, Yoshiki Hayashi, Minoru Machida, Yoshinori Aso, Shinji Yamashita: Oral absorption of poorly water-soluble drugs: computer simulation of fraction absorbed in humans from a miniscale dissolution test. *Pharm Res* 23, 1144-1156 (2006)

66. S. Moein Moghimi, A. Christy Hunter, J. Clifford Murray: Long-circulating and target specific nanoparticles: theory to practice. *Pharmacol Rev* 53, 283-318 (2001) 67. Indu Bala, Sarita Hariharan, M. N. V. Ravi Kumar: PLGA nanoparticles in drug delivery: the state of the art. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 21, 387-422 (2004)

68. Sunil A. Agnihotri, Nadagouda N. Mallikarjuna, Tejraj M. Aminabhavi: Recent advances on chitosan-based microand nanoparticles in drug delivery. *J Control Release* 100, 5-28 (2004)

69. Tetsuji Yamaoka, Yasuhiko Tabata, Yoshito Ikada: Blood clearance and organ distribution of intravenously administered polystyrene microspheres of different sizes. *J Bioact Compat Poly* 8, 220-235 (1993)

70. S. Moein Moghimi, Stanley S. Davis: Innovations in avoiding particle clearance from blood by kupffer cells: cause for reflection. *Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst* 11, 31-59 (1994)

71. Budhi H. Simon, Howard Y. Ando, Pardeep K. Gupta: Circulation time and body distribution of C-14-labeled amino-modified polystyrene nanoparticles in mice. *J Pharm Sci* 84, 1249-1253 (1995)

72. Kenichi Ogawara, Kentaro Furumoto, Yoshinobu Takakura, Mitsuru Hashida, Kazutaka Higaki, Toshikiro Kimura: Surface hydrophobicity of particles is not necessarily the most important determinant in their *in vivo* disposition after intravenous administration in rats. *J Control Release* 77, 191-198 (2001)

73. Donald E. Owens, Nicholas A. Peppas: Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. *Int J Pharm* 307, 93-102 (2006)

74. Hans Carstensen, Bernd W. Müller, Rainer H. Müller: Adsorption of ethoxylated surfactants on nanoparticles. I. Characterization by hydrophobic interaction chromatography. *Int J Pharm* 67, 29-37 (1991)

75. Gerold Lukowski, Rainer H. Müller, Bernd W. Müller, Michael Dittgen: Acrylic acid copolymer nanoparticles for drug delivery. Part II: Characterization of nanoparticles surface-modified by adsorption of ethoxylated surfactants. *Colloid Polym Sci* 271, 100-105 (1993)

76. Snow Stolnik, Martyn C. Davies, Lisbeth Illum, Stanley S. Davis, Mahfoud Boustta, Michel Vert: The preparation of sub-200 nm biodegradable colloidal particles from poly(beta-malic acid-co-benzyl malate) copolymers and their surface modification with Poloxamer and Poloxamine surfactants. *J Control Release* 30, 57-67 (1994)

77. John B. Kayes, David A. Rawlins: Adsorption characteristics of certain polyoxyethylene - polyoxypropylene block copolymers on polystyrene latex. *Coll Polym Sci* 257; 622-629 (1979)

78. Sabine D. Tröster, Klaus H. Wallis, Rainer H. Müller, Jorg Kreuter: Correlation of the surface hydrophobicity of 14C-poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles to their body distribution. *J Control Release* 20, 247-260 (1992) 79. Sarah Rudt, Harald Wesemeyer, Rainer H. Müller: *In vitro* phagocytosis assay of nano- and microparticles by chemiluminescence. IV. Effect of surface modification by coating of particles with Poloxamine and Antarox CO on the phagocytic uptake. *J Control Release* 25, 123-132 (1993)

80. Harald Wesemeyer, Bernd W. Müller, Rainer H. Müller: Adsorption of ethoxylated surfactants on nanoparticles. II. Determination of adsorption enthalpy by microcalorimetry. *Int J Pharm* 89, 33-40 (1993)

81. Othman Al-Hanbali, Ken J. Rutt, Dipak K. Sarker, A. Christy Hunter, S. Moein Moghimi: Concentration dependent structural ordering of poloxamine 908 on polystyrene nanoparticles and their modulatory role on complement consumption. *J Nanosci Nanotech* 6, 3126-3133 (2006)

82. Lisbeth Illum, L. Orup Jacobsen, Rainer H. Muller, Esther Mak, Stanley S. Davis: Surface characteristics and the interaction of colloidal particles with mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Biomaterials* 8,113-117 (1987)

83. S. Ian Muir, S. Moein Moghimi, Lisbeth Illum, Stanley S. Davis, Martyn C. Davies: The effect of block copolymers on the uptake of model polystyrene microspheres by Kupffer cells- *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. *Biochem Soc Trans* 19, 329S (1991)

84. S. Moein Moghimi, S. Ian Muir, Lisbeth Illum, Stanely S. Davis, Victoria Kolb-Bachofen: Coating particles with a block copolymer (poloxamine-908) suppresses opsonization but permits the activity of dysopsonins in the serum. *Biochim Biophys Acta, Molecular Cell Research* 1179, 157-165 (1993)

85. Lisbeth Illum, John Wright, Stanley S. Davis: Targeting of microspheres to sites of inflammation. *Int J Pharm* 52, 221-224 (1989)

86. Elizabeth Chambers, Samir Mitragotri: Long circulating nanoparticles via adhesion on red blood cells: mechanism and extended circulation. *Experimental Biology and Medicine* 232, 958-966 (2007)

87. S. Moein Moghimi, Hanne Hedeman, S. Ian Muir, Lisbeth Illum, Stanley S. Davis: An investigation of the filtration capacity and the fate of large filtered stericallystabilized microspheres in rat spleen. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1157, 233-240 (1993)

88. S. Moein Moghimi: Reestablishing the long circulatory behavior of poloxamine-coated particles after repeated intravenous administration: applications in cancer drug delivery and imaging. *Biochim Biophys Acta, General Subjects* 1472, 399-403 (1999)

89. S. Moein Moghimi, Thomas Gray: A single dose of intravenously injected poloxamine-coated long-circulating particles triggers macrophage clearance of subsequent doses in rats. *Clinical Science* 93, 371-379 (1997)

90. S. Moein Moghimi: Prolonging the circulation time and modifying the body distribution of intravenously injected polystyrene nanospheres by prior intravenous administration of poloxamine-908. A 'hepatic-blockade' event or manipulation of nanosphere surface *in vivo*? *Biochim Biophys Acta, General Subjects* 1336, 1-6 (1997)

91 S. Moein Moghimi, Karld D. Pavey, A. Christy Hunter: Real-time evidence of surface modification at polystyrene lattices by poloxamine 908 in the presence of serum: *in vivo* conversion of macrophage-prone nanoparticles to stealth entities by poloxamine 908. *FEBS Letters* 547, 177-182 (2003)

92. S. Moein Moghimi, Ann E. Hawley, Nicola M. Christy, Thomas Gray, Lisbeth Illum, Stanley S. Davis: Surface engineered nanospheres with enhanced drainage into lymphatics and uptake by macrophages of the regional lymph nodes. *FEBS Letters* 344, 25-30 (1994)

93. Stephen J. Douglas, Stanley S. Davis, Lisbeth Illum: Biodistribution of poly(butyl-2-cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles in rabbits. *Int J Pharm* 34, 145-152 (1986)

94. Alessandra Ambruosi, Svetlana Gelperina, Alexander Khalansky, Sandra Tanski, Alf Theisen, Jorg Kreuter: Influence of surfactants, polymer and doxorubicin loading on the anti-tumour effect of poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles in a rat glioma model. *J Microencapsulation* 23, 582-592 (2006)

95. Rainer H. Muller, Klaus H. Wallis: Surface modifications of iv injectable biodegradable nanoparticles with poloxamer polymer and poloxamine 908. *Int J Pharm* 89, 25-31 (1993)

96. Susan E. Dunn, Allan G. A. Coombes, Martin C. Garnett, Stanley S. Davis, Martyn C. Davies, Lisbeth Illum: *In vitro* cell interaction and *in vivo* biodistribution of poly(lactide-co-glicolide) nanospheres surface modified by poloxamer and poloxamine copolymers. *J Control Release* 44, 65-76 (1997)

97. Jonathan C. Neal, Snow Stolnik, Martin C. Garnett, Stanley S. Davis, Lisbeth Illum: Modification of the copolymers poloxamer 407 and poloxamine 908 can affect the physical and biological properties of surface modified nanospheres. *Pharm Res* 15, 318-324 (1998)

98. Leticia Araujo, Mark Sheppard, Raimar Löbenberg, Jorg Kreuter: Uptake of PMMA nanoparticles from the gastrointestinal tract after oral administration to rats: modification of the body distribution after suspension in surfactant solutions and in oil vehicles. *Int J Pharm* 176, 209-224 (1999)

99. Manuel J. Santander-Ortega, Noemi Csaba, Maria J. Alonso, Juan L. Ortega-Vinuesa, Delfi Bastos-Gonzalez: Stability and physicochemical characteristics of PLGA, PLGA:Poloxamer and PLGA:Poloxamine blend nanoparticles. *Colloids Surf A* 296, 132-140 (2007) 100. Noemi Csaba, Pilar Caamaño, Alejandro Sanchez, Fernando Dominguez, Maria J. Alonso: PLGA:Poloxamer and PLGA:Poloxamine blend nanoparticles: new carriers for gene delivery. *Biomacromolecules* 6, 271-278 (2005)

101. Noemi Csaba, Alejandro Sanchez, Maria J. Alonso: PLGA: Poloxamer and PLGA: Poloxamine blend nanostructures as carriers for nasal gene delivery. *J Control Release* 113, 164-172 (2006)

102. Bruno Pitard, Mahajoub Bello-Roufai, Olivier Lambert, Peggy Richard, Lea Desigaux, Sarah Fernandes, Caroline Lanctin, Helene Pollard, Mehdi Zeghal, Pierre-Yves Rescan, Denis Escande: Negatively charged self-assembling DNA/poloxamine nanospheres for *in vivo* gene transfer. *Nucleic Acids Research* 32: e159/1-e159/8 (2004)

103. Caroline Roques, Elias Fattal, Yves Fromes: Comparison of toxicity and transfection efficiency of amphiphilic block copolymers and polycationic polymers in striated muscles. *J Gene Med* 11, 240-249 (2009)

104. Torsten M. Göppert, Rainer H. Müller: Protein adsorption patterns on poloxamer- and poloxamine-stabilized solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 60, 361-372 (2005)

105. Carsten Olbrich, Nadja Schöler, Kerstin Tabatt, Oliver Kayser, Rainer H. Müller: Cytotoxicity studies of Dynasan 114 solid lipid nanoparticles (SLN) on RAW 264.7 macrophages- impact of phagocytosis on viability and cytokine production. *J Pharm Pharmacol* 56, 883-891 (2004)

106. Jonathan C. Neal, Snow Stolnik, Etienne Schacht, El Rafaie Kenawy, Martin C. Garnett, Stanley S. Davis, Lisbeth Illum: *In vitro* displacement by rat serum of adsorbed radiolabeled poloxamer and poloxamine copolymers from model and biodegradable nanospheres. *J Pharm Sci* 87, 1242-1248 (1998)

107. Hans Carstensen, Rainer H. Mueller, Bern W. Muller: Particle size, surface hydrophobicity and interaction with serum of parenteral fat emulsions and model drug carriers as parameters related to RES uptake. *Clinical Nutrition* 11, 289-297 (1992)

108. Pilar Calvo, Bruno Gouritin, Helene Chacun, Didier Desmaele, Jean D'Angelo, Jean-Pierre Noel, Dominique Georgin, Elias Fattal, Jean P. Andreux, Patrick Couvreur: Long-circulating PEGylated poly-cyanoacrylate nanoparticles as new drug carrier for brain delivery. *Pharm Res* 18, 1157-1166 (2001)

109. Rainer H. Mueller, Klaus H. Wallis, Sabine D. Troester, Jorg Kreuter: *In vitro* characterization of poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles and correlation to their *in vivo* fate. *J Control Release* 20, 237-246 (1992)

110. Jorg Kreuter: The influence of coatings with surfactants on the body distribution of nanoparticles after

intravenous injection to rats. *Clinical Materials* 13, 131-134 (1993)

111. Jorg Lode, Iduna Fichtner, Jorg Kreuter, Antje Berndt, Julia E. Diederichs, Regina Reszka: Influence of surfacemodifying surfactants on the pharmacokinetic behavior of 14c-poly (methylmethacrylate) nanoparticles in experimental tumor models. *Pharm Res* 18, 1613-1619 (2001)

Abbreviations: ApoE: apolipoprotein E; ApoA-IV: apoliprotein A-IV; CMC: critical micellar concentration; DLS: dynamic light scaterring; DNA:deoxyribonucleic acid; DSC: differential scanning calorimetry; EO: ethylene oxide: FTIR: Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy: MRSA: Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus; PEO: poly(ethylene oxide); PHB: poly(beta-hydroxibutyrate); PLA:poly(lactic acid); PLGA: poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid); PO: propylene oxide; PMMA: poly(methyl methacrylate); PPO: poly(propylene oxide); RES: reticuloendotelial system; SLS: static light scattering; S(M)EDDS: solid (micro)emulsifying drug delivery systems; T: Tetronic; TEM: transmission electron microscopy; USP: United States Phamacopeia; VREF: vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecalis.

Key Words: Amphiphilic copolymers, Drug solubilization, Drug stability, PEO-PPO block copolymers, Polymeric micelles, Poloxamines, Stealth nanoparticles, Tetronics, Review

Send correspondence to: Carmen Alvarez-Lorenzo, Dept. Farmacia y Tecnologia Farmaceutica, Facultad de Farmacia, Universidad de Santiago de Compostela, 15782-Santiago de Compostela, Spain, Tel: 34-981563100, Fax: 34-981547148, E-mail: carmen.alvarez.lorenzo@usc.es